AirBoss of America Corp.

To Our Shareholders
2012 Highlights
•
•
•
•
•

Opened Military Products R&D facility in Bromont, Quebec
North Carolina rubber compounding plant improvements completed
No operating debt
Purchased 836,865 shares for cancellation under NCIB at an average cost of $4.64 per share
Dividends increased by 32%

AirBoss Rubber Compounding
Sales volume, expressed in pounds shipped, declined by 16%. Sales dollars decreased by $19.8 million.
Most of the volume decline was in toll manufacturing reflecting a major tire company’s diminishing
requirements. This business was not replaced until the fourth quarter of 2012 with the addition of another
significant tire manufacturer. The remaining volume decline was due to decreased demand for rubber
compounds for heavy conveyor belting supporting coal mining. This decline began in the second quarter
and continued for the remainder of the year, which represented 48% of the total volume decline and was
offset by a 1% increase in all other sectors combined. Although there were raw material price fluctuations,
both up and down that were passed through to customers and sector mix changes, the average selling price
per pound ended up being flat for the year.
The tire tolling volume is expected to double in the third quarter of 2013 and increase again in 2014.
This was a key factor in the decision to refurbish North Carolina and to add narrow strip manufacturing
capabilities. The Company has also been successful in winning significant business to supply compounds
for a new type of ore processing equipment to be sold in South America by a world leading manufacturer of
mining machinery. Volumes are expected to start in the second quarter and gradually increase.
AirBoss Engineered Products
AirBoss Engineered Products (“AEP”) sales decreased by $14 million for the year compared to 2011. Of
this, $4.6 million is related to lower volume and $9.5 million was from changes in pricing and product mix
involving more tolling.
AirBoss-Defense product sales decreased by $11 million, primarily as a result of decreased sales of Chemical,
Biological, Radiological, Nuclear (“CBRN”) protective wear to the US military. Sales of overshoes are
expected to rebound in 2013 with the recently announced $20.4 million US contract.
There is an opportunity to increase sales in 2013 in non-traditional geographic markets and on a longer term
with new products currently under development. A new research and development facility was completed
mid-year in Bromont, Quebec and it is anticipated that this will increase the speed at which new technologies
are exploited and new products developed.
Industrial Products sales decreased 8.2% ($3.0 million). The product mix changed significantly from
compounds that required two pass processing to less expensive requirements where only one pass is required.
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Outlook
Volumes for the major tire tolling sector are expected to remain steady in the first two quarters at the levels
experienced in the fourth quarter of 2012, before rising again significantly in August or September. This
planned increase was a key factor in the refurbishment of our North Carolina facility. Volumes related to
heavy belting for the coal sector are expected to remain weak for the foreseeable future. This weakness was
first experienced in the second quarter of 2012. New export business for new mining products is expected
to gradually increase throughout the year. New markets where we have experienced recent success, such as
oil and gas, will be further penetrated. All other sectors are expected to meet or exceed 2012 levels.
Our forecasts for defense product sales show a small increase in 2013 and are largely supported by existing
contracts. There remains the opportunity to outperform these estimates if a US CBRN glove order is
received or a significant gas mask contract is signed in new territories currently being explored. While
new products are on the horizon for which we have large expectations, none are likely to have completed
customer evaluation in time to impact sales in 2013.
While raw material markets are subject to rapid change, there are no areas of immediate concern and
the first six months of 2013 should enjoy relatively stable pricing. This being the case, working capital
requirements should be similar to 2012 and maintenance capital expenditures will be less.

P.G. Schoch
Chairman
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R. L. Hagerman
President & CEO
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AirBoss of America Corp.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of AirBoss of America Corp.
(“AirBoss” or the “Company”) has been prepared as of March 20, 2013 and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notes for the year ended December 31, 2012 in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”). All dollar amounts are shown in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts, unless otherwise
specified. Additional information regarding the Company, including its Annual Information Form, can be found on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com and on the Company’s website at www.airbossofamerica.com.
Forward-Looking Statements - Certain statements included herein, including those that express management’s expectations or estimates of future
developments or AirBoss’ future performance, constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of applicable securities laws. Words
such as “may”, “could”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “forecasts”, “plans”, “intends”, or similar expressions are intended to identify forwardlooking statements.
Forward-looking statements are necessarily based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that, while considered reasonable by management
at the time the statements are made, are inherently subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies.
AirBoss cautions that such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other risks that may cause AirBoss’
actual financial results, performance, or achievements to be materially different from its estimated future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by those forward-looking statements. Numerous factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the
forward-looking statements, including without limitation: impact of general economic conditions; its dependence on key customers; cyclical
trends in the tire and automotive, construction, mining and retail industries; sufficient availability of raw materials at economical costs; weather
conditions affecting raw materials, production and sales; AirBoss’ ability to maintain existing customers or develop new customers in light of
increased competition; changes in accounting policies and methods, including uncertainties associated with critical accounting assumptions and
estimates; changes in the value of the Canadian dollar relative to the US dollar; changes in tax laws and potential litigation; ability to obtain
financing on acceptable terms; environmental damage caused by it and non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations; potential product
liability and warranty claims and equipment malfunction.
This list is not exhaustive of the factors that may affect any of AirBoss’ forward-looking statements. Investors are cautioned not to put undue
reliance on forward-looking statements. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to AirBoss or persons acting
on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by this notice. Whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, AirBoss
disclaims any intent or obligation to update publicly these forward-looking statements. Risks and uncertainties about AirBoss’ business are more
fully discussed under the “Risk Factors” section of the Company’s annual report on pages 13-15.
OVERALL PERFORMANCE
Lower demand for heavy conveyor belting due to a slumping coal sector and decreased year-over-year demand for original equipment tire mixing,
negatively impacted the results of the Rubber Compounding segment. Budget restrictions in the US Department of Defense (“DoD”) led to
reduced sales of protective wear and rubber compounds used in the AEP segment. These lower volumes resulted in lower margins due to the lower
recovery of fixed costs. Longer term strategies involved increased investment in research and development and a major refurbishment of the rubber
compounding facility in North Carolina.
Despite the increased investment, lower sales volumes and significant share buy backs, the balance sheet remained strong with improvements in
working capital ratios and debt to equity ratios. At year end, there were no drawings against the available operating line facility of $35 million at
December 31, 2012. All scheduled principal payments were made. There are no scheduled debt maturities until July, 2015.
External factors which will have the greatest ability to affect performance going forward are demand for coal and commodities which affect the
production of conveyor belting and other mining products with a significant rubber component, US Defense spending on CBRN protective wear
and demand for transportation related products such as tires in the North American market.
Future growth will also be affected by the relative success of several new protective wear products under development. These are expected to begin
to enter the marketplace at the end of 2013.

Annual Report

4

2012

Operational Highlights
• In May, 2012, the normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) was renewed to repurchase up to 1.7 million of common shares during the 12 month period
ending May, 2013. There were 836,865 shares repurchased and cancelled for $3,887 or an average of $4.64 per share.
• In May, 2012, the annualized dividend was increased from $0.15 to $0.20 per common share, paying out $4,050 in dividends during 2012
• Opened R&D Centre in Bromont to develop additional protective wear products
• Invested $7,422 including a new Defense head office and R&D site in Bromont, Quebec; North Carolina refurbishment complete
• Current ratio is 2.91; Funded debt to EBITDA is 0.57; principal and interest coverage is 11.48 provides an ability to support future expansion
financed by higher debt levels
Normalization:
Ohio Commercial Activity Tax assessment of $293
Loss on sale of injection molding equipment and consolidating operations in Quebec and Vermont of $428

Selected Financial Information
Years ended December 31
2012
2011
Financial results:		
Net sales
248,698
282,520
7,170
13,004
Net income
Net income per share
- Basic
0.31
0.55
- Diluted
0.31
0.54
16,302
25,571
EBITDA (non-IFRS financial measure)
Net cash provided by operating activities
10,855
16,790
0.1875
0.1425
Dividends declared per share
Capital expenditures
7,422
5,280
Financial position:
Total assets
118,821
126,575
9,336
9,774
Term loan and other debt
78,987
79,179
Shareholders’ equity
Outstanding shares
22,492,885
23,329,750
*22,492,885 at March 20, 2013
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AirBoss of America Corp.
MD&A (cont’d)
Non-IFRS Financial Measure
This MD&A is based on reported income in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and on the following non-IFRS
financial measure:
EBITDA

Earnings before interest income, interest expense, income taxes and depreciation and amortization

EBITDA, a non-IFRS measure, is directly derived from the consolidated financial statements, but does not have a standardized meaning prescribed
by IFRS and is not necessarily comparable to a similar measure presented by other issuers.
The  Company discloses EBITDA, a financial measurement used by interested parties and investors to monitor the ability of an issuer to generate
cash from operations for debt service, financing working capital and capital expenditures and  paying dividends. EBITDA is not a measure of
performance under IFRS and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net income under IFRS.
A reconciliation of this measure is presented below:
2012

2011

EBITDA:		
Net Income
7,170
13,004
Finance costs
1,019
1,452
Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets
5,783
4,755
Income tax expense
2,330
6,360
16,302

EBITDA

25,571

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – 2012 compared to 2011
NET SALES
Net Sales decreased by 12% in 2012 primarily from lower volumes.
		
Net sales

2012

2011
Increase (decrease) $		
Increase (decrease) %		

Rubber Compounding

AEP

Total

189,602

59,096

248,698

209,353
(19,751)
(9.4)

73,167
(14,071)
(19.2)

282,520
(33,822)
(12.0)

Rubber Compounding
Sales volume, expressed in pounds shipped, declined by 16%. Sales dollars decreased by $19,751. Most of the volume decline was in toll
manufacturing, reflecting a major tire company’s diminishing requirements. This accounted for 59% of the overall company volume decline and
$2,573 in sales dollars. This business was not replaced until the fourth quarter of 2012 with the addition of another significant tire manufacturer.
The remaining volume decline was due to decreased demand for rubber compounds for heavy conveyor belting supporting coal mining. This
decline began in the second quarter and continued for the remainder of the year which represented 48% of the total volume decline and was offset
by a 1% increase in all other sectors combined. Although there were raw material price fluctuations, both up and down, that were passed through to
customers and sector mix changes, the average selling price per pound ended up being flat for the year.
Sales volume is expected to remain at fourth quarter levels into the second quarter of 2013. The coal sector and subsequently the demand for rubber
compounds heavy conveyor belting is expected to remain at these lower levels for the year. Slightly more than half of the tire tolling business has
already been replaced on a multi-year basis. This contracted volume is expected to double in the third quarter of 2013 and increase again in 2014.
The Company has also been successful in winning significant business to supply compounds for a new type of ore processing equipment to be sold
in South America by a world leading manufacturer of mining machinery. Volumes are expected to start in the second quarter and gradually increase.
AirBoss Engineered Products
AirBoss Engineered Products (“AEP”) sales decreased by $14,071 for the year compared to 2011; of this, $4,591 is related to lower volume and
$9,480 was from pricing and product mix.
AirBoss-Defense product sales decreased by $11,110, primarily as a result of decreased sales of CBRN protective wear to the US military. Total
sales of CBRN overshoes and gloves decreased by over 140,000 and 500,000 pairs respectively. Sales of overshoes are expected to rebound in 2013
with the recently announced $20.4 million US contract. There is an opportunity to increase sales in 2013 in non-traditional geographic markets and
on in the longer term with new products currently under development.
Industrial Products sales decreased by 8.2% ($2,961) on 18% higher volumes.  During 2012, a major customer acquired a rubber plantation and
mixing capabilities in Asia and began supplying its raw material requirements in partially mixed form to AEP for final processing. As a result of
a reduction in the value added component and corresponding price per pound reduction, revenues decreased by $10,194. The lower sales were
partially offset by higher volumes of tire retreading products.
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MD&A (cont’d)
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – 2012 compared to 2011 (continued)
GROSS MARGIN
Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $26,061 (2011: $34,853), a decrease of $8,792 from 2011. This was primarily attributable
to lower volumes of Defense products.

Gross Margin

Rubber Compounding

AEP

Total

15,647
17,716

10,414
17,137

26,061
34,853

(2,069)
8.3
8.5

(6,723)
17.6
23.4

(8,792)
10.5
12.3

2012
2011

Increase (decrease) $		
% of net sales
2012
2011

Rubber Compounding
Gross margin for Rubber Compounding decreased by $2,069 in the year compared to 2011 from lower sales. This resulted in higher mixing costs per
pound reflecting the lower absorption of fixed manufacturing costs which was offset by better control over raw material purchasing in a fluctuating
environment and a favorable product mix. The gross margin percentage was comparable year-over-year. Cost of sales included Ohio Commercial
Activity Tax assessment $293 (2011: nil) and an inventory impairment charge of $463 (2011: $241).
AirBoss Engineered Products
Gross margin for AirBoss Engineered Products decreased by $6,723 compared to 2011. This was primarily due to lower sales of Defense Products.
Lower production volumes of Defense Products in the fourth quarter also created production inefficiencies that could not be absorbed by higher
industrial product and fireboot volumes. Consolidating injection molding operations in Quebec and Vermont cost $428.
There should be some margin improvement in 2013 with the planned volume increases in CBRN footwear which is manufactured in the Acton-Vale
industrial plant.
OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses increased for the year by $1,505.
This represents higher costs relating to increased investment in R&D $740 (net of R&D investment credits and subsidies), foreign exchange losses
$541, higher personnel costs $382, bad debts $87 offset by lower travel, professional fees and public reporting costs $315.
			
Unallocated
Rubber Compounding
AEP
Corporate Costs
Total
2012

7,548

5,730

2,264

15,542

2011

6,190

5,387

2,460

14,037

Increase (decrease) $		

1,358

343

(196)

1,505

2012

4.0

9.7

N/A

6.2

2011

3.0

7.4

N/A

5.0

Operating expenses

% of net sales

Rubber Compounding
For the year ended December 31, 2012 Rubber Compounding expenses increased by $1,358.  Personnel costs increased by $289 having the first
full year of the North Carolina product development office which was opened mid-2011 and reorganization resulted in $100 severance and $195
related to the transfer of staff from cost of sales to administration and R&D. Other administrative cost increases included a higher corporate cross
charge of $196 and an increase in bad debt provisions by $87. Research and development tax credits recognized in the year, which are applied as a
reduction of operating expenses, decreased by $446.
AirBoss Engineered Products
For the year ended December 31, 2012 AEP’s expenses increased $343.
Research and development initiatives to support Defense and Industrial Products increased expenses by $426 from new hires and additional
outsourced support for certain technical work. In addition there was an increase in direct government incentives of $498 and lower research and
development tax credits of $366. Industrial Products sales staff costs increased $95 to support future sales volumes, while administrative costs
increased $85 to increase accounting headcount.
Foreign exchange transactions resulted in a year-over-year gain of $128.
Unallocated Corporate Costs
Unallocated corporate costs decreased $196. Travel, bonus, options expense and consultant fees in light of the weaker results decreased by $697.
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AirBoss of America Corp.
MD&A (cont’d)
During 2012, the corporate charge to Rubber Compounding increased $196 reflecting its share of the costs attributable to the segment. Foreign
exchange losses were $376 in 2012 compared to a gain of $293 in 2011.
FINANCE COST
			Unallocated
		
Rubber Compounding
AEP
Corporate Costs
Finance cost

2012
2011

Increase (decrease) $		
% of net sales
2012
2011

533
790

353
520

133
142

(257)
0.3
0.4

(167)
0.6
0.7

(9)
N/A
N/A

Total
1,019
1,452
(433)
0.4
0.5

Finance costs in 2012 were $1,019 (2011: $1,452) for the year and were impacted by lower borrowing levels.
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The Company recorded an income tax expense of $2,330 (2011: $6,360) or an effective income tax rate for the year of 24.5% (32.8% in 2011). The
statutory rate in Canada in 2012 was 25%.
The Company conducts business in the US and in Canada. Each jurisdiction is subject to different tax rates and the Company’s effective tax rate
varies quarter to quarter depending on the mix and volume of business in each jurisdiction, as well as the impact of incentives, non-tax-deductible
expenses and the resolution of prior period tax assessments.
		
2012
Expected AirBoss of America Corp. statutory rate
Foreign rate differential

2,375
90

Tax expense

Rate
2011

2012

2011

5,136
968

25.0%
1.0%

26.5%
5.0%

Effect of permanent differences

88

200

0.9%

1.0%

Filing differences

(5)

(206)

(0.1%)

(1.1%)

262

2.3%

1.4%

6,360

24.5%

32.8%

Other
Actual tax

(218)
2,330

NET INCOME AND EARNINGS PER SHARE
Net income in 2012 amounted to $7,170 compared to $13,004 in 2011 primarily attributable to lower AEP divisional results. The basic and
fully diluted net earnings per share were $0.31 (2011- $0.55) and $0.31 (2011- $0.54) based on basic and fully diluted shares outstanding of
22,954,394 (2011- 23,605,346 ) and  23,167,475 (2011 – 24,053,288) respectively.
QUARTERLY INFORMATION
		
Net Sales
Quarter Ended
2012
December 31, 2012
54,114
57,901
September 30, 2012
June 30, 2012
66,784
69,899
March 31, 2012
2011
61,654
December 31, 2011
September 30, 2011
73,109
77,440
June 30, 2011
March 31, 2011
70,316

Net Income

Net Income per share
Basic
Diluted

1,755
1,507
1,621
2,287

0.08
0.06
0.07
0.10

0.08
0.06
0.07
0.10

595
3,585
4,527
4,297

0.03
0.15
0.19
0.18

0.03
0.15
0.19
0.18

Items impacting comparability of quarters
• The quarter ended September 30, 2011 was impacted by a 29% reduction in sales of Defense products.
• The quarter ended December 31, 2011 was impacted by lower Rubber Compounding volumes and US DoD contract administration and
inspection delays of Defense products resulting in a deferral of revenue to the first quarter of 2012. The defense product shipping delays
impacted earnings per share by between $0.02 and $0.03.
• All quarters in 2012 was impacted by lower Defense sales from US budgetary constraints and by lower Rubber Compounding sales relating
to economic weaknesses in energy generating sectors. Non-recurring charges of $721 were recorded in the quarter June, 2012.
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MD&A (cont’d)
Fourth Quarter 2012
Net sales in the fourth quarter of 2012 decreased by $7.5 million compared to 2011 due to the following factors:
• $2.9 million or 16% decrease for Rubber compounding attributable to 10% lower volume and $4.8 million from lower raw material costs
and a change in mix;
• $0.1 million increase for AEP due to Q4 2011 US DoD inspection delays ($1.5 million) offset by lower industrial product revenues from
processing customer supplied material.
Gross margin increased $0.6 million
• Rubber Compounding gross margin decreased by $0.5 million, primarily on lower volumes;
• AEP margins increased $1.0 million related to higher sales volumes.
Operating expenses decreased by $0.1 million
• Rubber compounding increased by $0.4 million, primarily from $0.3 million higher research and development tax credits recognized in
2011;
• AEP increased by $0.1 million representing higher foreign exchange gains;
• Unallocated corporate costs decreased $0.6 million of which $0.3 million for foreign exchange gains, $0.2 million lower bonus accrual, $0.1
million other income.
Finance costs decreased by $0.1 million from lower borrowing levels.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Overview
Despite lower operating profits and significant investments in R&D facilities and equipment refurbishment, the Company has been able to reduce
debt, increase dividends from $0.15 to $0.20 per share and buy back $3,887 million of its own shares without requiring the use of any of its CAD
$35 million operating loan availability at year end.
The Company expects to fund its 2013 operating cash requirements, including required working capital investments, capital expenditures and
scheduled debt repayments from cash on hand, cash flow from operations and committed borrowing capacity. The operating facility which provides
financing up to CAD $35 million (2011: CAD $35 million); no amounts are drawn against this facility at the respective year ends.
In the year ended December 31, 2012, $10,855 (2011: $16,698) of cash was provided by operations, $7,292 (2011: $5,188) was used for investing
activities and $8,605 (2011: $18,754) was used in financing activities. Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $5,042 from $6,418 to $1,247
adjusted for the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held.
Operating activities
The factors contributing to the reduction of cash generated from operating activities compared to 2011 include:
• Lower income of $5,834 primarily related to lower Defense sales
• Lower finance costs of $433 as a result of reduced interest expense on the term loan year-over-year
• Lower tax expense of $4,030
• Net increase in unrealized foreign exchange losses of $1,716
• $543 less Research and Development tax credits recognized
• Decrease in share based expense and shares repurchased from officer of $101
Cash used for working capital was $1,828 (2011: $756) for the year ended December 31, 2012.
Inventory at Rubber Compounding decreased $6,442 reflecting lower requirements for recent sales volumes as well as lower days of inventory on
hand. These decreases were also impacted by a net increase in provisions in inventory of $484.
Accounts Receivable increased $1,203. Approximately $3 million of receivables were past due relating to administrative issues at the US DoD.
This was resolved by the end of February, 2013.
Prepaid expenses decreased $141 reflecting lower deposits on Rubber Compounding capital projects at December 31, 2012 compared to the prior
year.
Accounts payable decreased $7,139 reflecting reductions in inventory levels.
Income tax paid was $2,862, $1,896 lower compared to 2011 from the timing of required remittances and lower taxable incomes.
The Company paid interest of $854 during the year.
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AirBoss of America Corp.
MD&A (cont’d)
Investing Activities
Property, Plant and Equipment
In 2012, Rubber Compounding invested $1,175 in North Carolina’s equipment utilization improvement projects and $584 in process water cooling
and building alarm systems.  $341 was invested in Kitchener’s building upgrades and $1,652 to replace manufacturing equipment.
AEP invested $2,956 in property, plant and equipment. Of this, $501 was invested to replace industrial products machinery and equipment. AirBossDefense invested $1,721 for its Bromont R&D facility and $734 to support growth and cost savings.
Intangible assets
The Company invested $714 (2011: $449) in existing software for over-all improvements to reporting, purchasing and costing systems.
Other investments including derivatives
There were no forward contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2012 or 2011.
Financing activities
At December 31, 2012, AirBoss had no amounts drawn against its operating facility. During the fourth quarter of 2011, the Company settled the
portion of the term facility that matured using cash on hand and its operating facility.
During the year 2012, the required principal repayments of $668 (2011: $13,550) were made pursuant to the loan agreement. The unused line of
credit at December 31, 2012 was CAD $35 million (2011: CAD $35 million).
The Company expects to fund its 2013 operating cash requirements, including required working capital investments, capital expenditures and
scheduled debt repayments from cash on hand, cash flow from operations and committed borrowing capacity.
The Company paid dividends of $4,050 during 2012 (2011: $3,212) and purchased shares for cancellation under a normal course issuer bid for
$3,888 (2011: $1,992).
Commitments and contractual obligations
The Company’s contractual obligations as at December 31, 2012 are summarized below:
Payments Due In
2015

2013

2014

2016

Total

Term loan and other debt
Operating leases
Purchase obligations

772
470
3,651

670
334
–

7,929
72
–

–
10
–

9,371
886
3,651

Total

4,893

1,004

8,001

10

13,908

The Company has inventory purchase commitments at the end of 2012 for its AEP and Rubber Compounding business segments of $1 million and
$2.6 million (2011: $0.4 million and $3.5 million) respectively.
Government assistance
During the year 2012, AEP recognized grants of $814 to support certain initiatives (2011: $280) which were offset against expenses. In addition,
$157 (2011: nil) was recognized from the province of Quebec and Town of Acton-Vale in respect of the new R&D facility in Bromont, Quebec.
Capital assets were adjusted accordingly.
During the year 2012, the Rubber Compounding division recognized $36 to support certain green initiatives (2011: nil) from a provincial program
which was offset against expenses.
Scientific research and investment tax credits of $369 were recognized in 2012 (2011: $1,212); R&D costs were adjusted accordingly. In addition,
$233 (2011: nil) was recognized as a reduction to capital assets in respect of provincial tax credits.
Dividends
A quarterly dividend of $0.05 per share was declared on November 7, 2012 and paid January 17, 2013. Total dividends declared during 2012 were
$0.1875 per common share compared to $0.1425 per common share in 2011.
Outstanding shares
As at March 20, 2013 the Company had 22,492,885 common shares outstanding.
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MD&A (cont’d)
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
Up to August, 2012, included in the operating lease commitments was a rental agreement for corporate office space between the Company and a
company controlled by the Chairman of the Company. The lease provided for monthly payments equivalent to an annual rental of $90 and expired
in August, 2012. Effective October 1, 2012, the Company has agreed to lease the corporate office space on a month-to-month basis at a lease rate
of $15 per month. The monthly lease rate approximates fair market rental value. During the year, the Company paid rent for the corporate office of
$113 (2011: $90).
The Company paid fees for the use of a facility in South Carolina of approximately $18 (2011 - $20) for the year ended December 31, 2012 to a
company in which the Chairman is an officer.
In 2009, the Company renewed a CAD $150 share purchase loan to an employee which was due December 2, 2011 bearing interest at 2.5% annually
with full recourse and was included in the 2010 financial statements under the caption “current trade and other receivables” and 29,411 shares of the
Company having a fair value of CAD $157 were pledged as collateral. During the fourth quarter of 2011, this loan was settled in full.
TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive), CEO, CFO and division heads. The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services is shown below:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Salaries and other short term benefits
Pension/Post-employment benefits
Stock option expense

2012
1,504
129
344
1,977

2011
1,806
141
592
2,539

The amounts disclosed in this table are the amounts recognized as operating expenses for accounting purposes during the period and do not
necessarily represent amounts receivable or received in cash.
The Company’s executive compensation plan consists of base salary, performance bonuses, and long-term compensation including stock options,
stock appreciation rights and retirement benefits.
Key management and directors own 26.9% of the outstanding common shares.
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2013 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Those which may be relevant to the Company are
set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early.
(a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2010), IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2009)
IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. Under IFRS 9 (2009), financial assets are
classified and measured based on the business model in which they are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. IFRS 9 (2010)
introduces additions relating to financial liabilities. The IASB currently has an active project to make limited amendments to the classification and
measurement requirements of IFRS 9 and add new requirements to address the impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.
IFRS 9 (2010 and 2009) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015 with early adoption permitted. At this time,
management cannot provide a reasonable estimate of the effect on the Company’s financial position until a detailed review has been completed.
(b) IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements,
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (2011)
IFRS 10 introduces a single control model to determine whether an investee should be consolidated. Based on the IFRS 10 model, there are no
changes to the entities being consolidated.
Under IFRS 11, the structure of the joint arrangement, although still an important consideration, is no longer the main factor in determining the type
of joint arrangement and therefore the subsequent accounting.
• An interest in a joint operation, which is an arrangement in which the parties have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities, will
be accounted for on the basis of the Group’s interest in those assets and liabilities.
• An interest in a joint venture, which is an arrangement in which the parties have rights to the net assets, will be equity-accounted.
There is no impact of the new standard.
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MD&A (cont’d)
IFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all the disclosure requirements about an entity’s interest in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates
and unconsolidated structure entities. The Group is currently assessing the disclosure requirements for interests in subsidiaries, interests in joint
arrangements and associates and unconsolidated structured entities in comparison with the existing disclosures. IFRS 12 requires the disclosure of
information about the nature, risks and financial effects of these interests.
These standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company does not expect the adoption of these
amendments to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. The Company intends to adopt these standards in its financial
statements for the annual and interim periods beginning on January 1, 2013.
(c) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (2011)
IFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on how fair value is measured and replaces the fair value measurement guidance that is currently
dispersed throughout IFRS. Subject to limited exceptions, IFRS 13 is applied when fair value measurements or disclosures are required or permitted
by other IFRSs. The Group is currently reviewing its methodologies in determining fair values. IFRS13 is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013. The Company intends to adopt these standards in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1,
2013.
(d) IAS 19 Employee Benefits (2011)
IAS 19 (2011) changes the definition of short-term and other long-term employee benefits to clarify the distinction between the two.
The Company anticipated some of these changes and as a result, upon transition to IFRS where the Company had choices among accounting
methods, it opted to immediately recognize the defined benefit plan re-measurement component in Other Comprehensive Income. This aspect of the
amendments will therefore have no impact on the Company’s financial results. The net interest approach in IAS 19 will change how the Company
measures interest and the expected return on its plan assets; however, the change is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s financial
results. The Company intends to adopt these standards in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The Company’s preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The Company’s estimates are based upon historical experience and on various other assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The results of the Company’s ongoing evaluation of these estimates form the basis for making
judgements about the carrying value of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts for revenues and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions.  These estimates and assumptions are affected by management’s application of accounting policies.
Critical Accounting Policies
The Company’s critical accounting policies are those that affect our Consolidated Financial Statements materially and involve a significant level
of judgement by the Company. A summary of the significant accounting policies, including critical accounting policies, is set forth in Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company’s critical accounting estimates include valuation of accounts receivable and inventory, valuation
of goodwill and other long-lived assets, accounting for income taxes, government assistance and other debt.
Valuation of Accounts receivable
No material bad debt provisions were required in 2012 and 2011.
Valuation of inventory
The majority of the Company’s products are manufactured against orders and inventory on hand is primarily raw materials or finished goods
awaiting shipment or customer release.
A provision for obsolete inventory is established based on materials on hand that can no longer be used for customer orders based on a review of
historical and forecasted sales, as well as a technical review to see if such materials can be reworked.
Management reviews the carrying cost of its inventory to ensure it is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value by examining current
replacement cost and the quoted pricing to customers over the estimated time frame to consume the inventory on hand and irrevocable commitments.
The Company’s provision for obsolete inventory and the write-down of inventory to net realizable value may require an adjustment should any of
the above factors change.
At December 31, 2012, a reserve for impaired inventory in Rubber Compounding represents $814 (2011: $304).
AEP maintains a provision of $567 (2011: $670) related to certain styles and sizes of protective wear in its ending inventory.
Valuation of Goodwill
The Company reviews and evaluates our goodwill for impairment when an indicator of impairment exists in the associated cash generating units,
but at least on an annual basis. In determining whether impairment has occurred in one of the Company’s cash generating units, management
compares the cash generating unit’s carrying value to its fair value. Management determines the fair value of the Company’s cash generating units
on a combination of an EBIT multiple approach and market approach. EBIT, a non-IFRS measure, is directly derived from the consolidated financial
statements, but does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and is not necessarily comparable to a similar measure presented by other
issuers.  EBIT is defined as earnings before interest income, interest expense and income taxes. Determination of fair value is based on a number
of assumptions arising from the most current financial performance of each cash generating unit, the upcoming annual budget for each reporting
unit and the historical variability of earnings. Other factors, such as any foreign exchange volatility and volatility in world markets for rubber and
carbon black can also materially alter our expectations. Accordingly, management’s judgement is required to determine whether these factors at any
one point in time and in light of business initiatives, suggest a major change, positive or negative, to the prospects of the business and, therefore, to
the valuation of goodwill. No impairment charge was required in 2012 or 2011.
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MD&A (cont’d)
Other Long-lived Assets
The Company reviews and evaluates long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in economic and other circumstances indicate that
the carrying value of such assets may not be fully recoverable. The net recoverable value of an asset, or cash generating unit, is calculated as the
higher of an asset’s or cash generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Future net cash flows are developed using assumptions
that reflect the planned course of action for an asset given management’s best estimate of the most probable set of economic conditions.  Inherent
in these assumptions are significant risks and uncertainties. In the view of management, there are no indicators of impairment based on assumption
which they believe to be reasonable and no impairment charge was recorded in 2012 and 2011.
Accounting for Income Taxes
The  provision  for  income  taxes  is  calculated  based on  the  expected  tax  treatment of  transactions  recorded in the  Consolidated Financial
Statements. The objectives of accounting for income taxes are to recognize the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and future
tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements or tax returns.
In determining both the  current  and  deferred components of income taxes, the Company interprets tax legislation in a variety of jurisdictions, as
well as makes assumptions about the expected timing of the reversal of deferred tax assets and liabilities and recognition of deferred tax assets is
based on a “more likely than not” criteria. If its interpretations differ from those of tax authorities or if the timing of reversals is not as anticipated,
the provision or relief for income taxes could increase or decrease in future periods. Additional information regarding our accounting for income
taxes is contained in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Deferred tax assets have been recorded relating to loss carry-forward
amounts as management believes it is more likely than not that these will be used before expiration.
Government Assistance
Management evaluates its best estimates for the amount of government grants recoverable at each reporting date as an offset against the related
expense or capital expenditure under the terms of agreements or based on its interpretation of existing government programs. If its interpretations
differ from those of the relevant tax authorities or program administrators, the amount recoverable may increase or decrease in future periods.
Other Debt
Management evaluates its best estimate of the amount of environmental costs recoverable as an offset from other debt payable to the defendants
under the terms of an agreement at each reporting date. During the first quarter of 2011, the Company was notified that the superior court rendered
a judgement in its favour allowing the parties to offset their respective claims. The Company has been informed that an appeal was filed relating to
the judge’s decision to award the Company 100% of its claim for environmental cost reimbursement.
RISK FACTORS
Impact of Economic Cycle
The demand for the Company’s products can vary in accordance with general economic cycles and the economic conditions of the industry sectors
that are served by the Company. In addition, such industry sectors are cyclical in nature. The Company is particularly sensitive to trends in the tire,
energy generation, construction, mining and transportation industries because these industries are significant markets for the Company’s business
and are highly cyclical. In a severe economic slowdown, prices for coal, copper and other mined materials may fall, affecting demand
for conveyor belting, off-road retread tires and other rubber products manufactured by our customers out of rubber compounds manufactured by
AirBoss.
Dependence on Key Customers and Contracts
From time to time, a significant portion of the Company’s sales for a given period may be represented by a small number of customers. One
customer represents 19% (2011 – 24%) of total sales. Five customers represented 43% of sales in 2012 (2011 – 52.7%). The loss of any such
customers or the delay or cancellation of any orders under certain high-volume contracts could have a significant impact on the Company.
Raw Materials and Inventory
The Company depends on certain outside sources for raw materials used in the production of its products, the price and availability of which
are subject to market conditions. As a result, any unforeseen shortage of such raw materials could delay delivery, increase costs and decrease
profitability. This occurred in 2008 and recurred in 2011 as the world-wide production of key materials such as synthetic rubber and carbon black
did not keep up with demand. The Company was not subject to shortages at that time as it maintains supply sources in different areas of the world.
This cannot be relied upon to avoid shortages in the future.
Raw material markets have been extremely volatile with key materials doubling or halving in price within a short period. Excess inventory or
shortages could prove costly to the Company in these markets.
The Company does not have long-term supply contracts with its suppliers and purchases most raw materials on a purchase order basis. The price of
many raw materials, such as carbon black and synthetic rubber, is directly or indirectly affected by factors such as exchange rates and the price
of oil. Although the Company attempts to pass price changes in raw materials on to its customers, it may not always be able to adjust its prices,
especially in the short-term, to recover the costs of increased raw material prices.  Conversely, if raw material prices decrease significantly and
rapidly, the Company may be at risk to recover the cost of any inventory purchased based on demand at higher prices.
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MD&A (cont’d)
The following table approximates the financial impact (assuming changes are not passed along to its customers) on the Company of a 10% increase
in the cost of its most critical raw materials based upon purchases made in the respective years:
$ Millions
Increase (decrease)

Earnings before tax

		
Natural & synthetic rubber (5.1)
Carbon black

2012
(5.1)
(1.6)

2011
(8.9)
(2.2)

		

(6.7)

(11.1)

Weather
The Company manufactures rubber compounds used extensively in snowmobile tread manufacture. The annual sales of these compounds depend
upon snowmobile sales, which in turn are affected by weather conditions. Accordingly, warm weather could have a negative impact on the sales to
these companies.
Competition
The Company competes directly against major North American companies in the custom rubber compounding and industrial rubber product market   
segments. Some of these companies have strong established competitive positions in these markets. In the case of rubber compounding, the
industry  leader  may  have  greater resources,  both  financial  and  technical,  than  the  Company and  has long-standing relationships with some of
the Company’s  prospective  customers  using  well-established  marketing  and  distribution  networks.  Furthermore, since there is a commoditylike element to certain segments of the Company’s rubber mixing business, the customers of this business are price sensitive and may be able to
purchase their requirements elsewhere in a relatively short period of time. The Company competes with international companies who may also have
greater financial resources or who may be sheltered by domestic tariffs.
Currency Exposure
The Company has revenues and expenses denominated in both Canadian and US dollars. In addition, the cost to the Company of certain key raw
materials and other expense items and the competitiveness of prices charged by the Company for its products will be indirectly affected by currency
fluctuations.  Changes in  the  value  of  the  Canadian  dollar  relative  to  the  US dollar  could  have a material positive or adverse effect on the
Company’s results of operations.
The Company reviews its currency exposure positions from time to time and reacts accordingly by increasing or decreasing the proportion of
operating or term loan denominated in CAD funds as a natural balance sheet hedge or establishing forward contracts to purchase CAD funds to
manage its foreign exchange risk related to cash-flow. However,  there  is no assurance that such strategies will be successful or cost effective
and  the  profitability of the  Company’s  business  could  be  adversely  affected  by  currency  fluctuations.  The following table approximates
the following impact on the Company of a $0.10 decrease in the value of one CAD dollar in the Company’s USD functional currency (million):
$ Millions
Increase (decrease)

Earnings before tax
2012

Sales (1)
Purchases (2)

(4.0)
5.2

2011
(3.5)
4.8

(1) Based upon Canadian dollar-denominated sales in 2012.
(2) Based upon combined 2012 Canadian purchases and expenses.
Environmental
The Company handles various chemicals and oils in its manufacturing process, the nature of which may expose it to risks of causing or being
deemed to have caused environmental or other damages. While its use of potentially hazardous materials is limited, the Company ensures that its
operations are conducted in a manner that minimizes such risks and maintains insurance coverage considered reasonable by management. To date,
no regulatory authority has required the Company to pay any material fines or remediation expenses in connection with any alleged violation of
environmental regulation. However, there can be no assurance that future environmental damage will not occur or that environmental damage due
to prior or present practices will not result in future liabilities. The Company is subject to environmental regulation by federal, provincial, state and
local authorities. While management believes that the Company is in substantial compliance with all material government requirements relating to
environmental controls on its operation, changes in such government laws and regulations are ongoing and may make environmental compliance
increasingly expensive. It is not possible to predict future costs, which may be incurred to meet environmental obligations.
The Company’s remediation of pre-existing contamination at Acton-Vale, Quebec was completed at the beginning of 2006. Under the terms of the
1999 purchase agreement, cleanup costs are to be borne by the vendors. Accordingly, the Company does not anticipate any material financial impact
from remediation efforts; however, may be exposed to costs recovered pursuant to a purchase and sale agreement described below.
During 2008, the Company implemented measures to remediate the cause of an odour complaint in its Kitchener facility and monitor levels through
a program of odour sampling.  Based upon  its efforts to date and investigations  conducted by  qualified  external  environmental professionals,
the Company believes that  no significant environmental exposure exists and  that  the costs to remediate the areas of ongoing concern will  not  
significantly  impact  the  financial  resources of  the Company. The Company has secured liability insurance coverage for environmental issues
which the Company believes to be appropriate for the nature of its operations.

Annual Report

14

2012
MD&A (cont’d)
Product Liability and Warranty Claims
As a manufacturer of rubber-based products, the Company faces a risk of product liability and warranty claims. Although the Company carries
commercial general liability insurance in an amount considered reasonable by industry standards, any claim which is successful and is not covered
by insurance or which exceeds the policy limit could have an adverse effect on the Company. Warranty claims have not been material and are within
industry standard expectations.
Capacity and Equipment
The rubber compounding facilities have an annual capacity to produce approximately 230 million pounds at the current product mix.
The Company remains committed to continuous maintenance and upgrading of its equipment. Critical equipment remains not only in a high state
of repair, but is also technologically up to date so that the Company is able to ensure the reliability of supply at competitive prices and at a high
quality standard.
The Company has also made investment in capacity and efficiency in its Acton operations. In recent years, the Company purchased molds and
injection equipment and established a production facility in Vermont to enhance its presence in protective products, such as CBRN protective
gloves, defense footwear and gas masks.
Should additional equipment be required to fulfill any substantial increases in sales, it can be readily sourced in the market.
LITIGATION
In 2004, the Company commenced an Action in the Superior Court of Quebec claiming funds due pursuant to the 1999 Agreement of Purchase and
Sale whereby AirBoss acquired the assets of Acton International Inc. Part of the claim was settled pursuant to the filing in May 2007 of a Declaration
of Settlement with one of the defendants for substantially the full amount of their 32% share of the Company’s claims. The remaining claims
amounted to CAD $2.4 million plus accrued interest and were recorded as an offset to long-term debt owed to the vendors.
The trial in this matter took place before the Superior Court of Montreal in May and June 2010. In March 2011, the Company was notified that the
superior court rendered a judgement in its favour allowing the parties to offset their respective claims. The Company has been informed that an
appeal was filed relating to the Judge’s decision to award the Company 100% of its claim for environmental costs reimbursement.
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
As of the end of the fiscal year of the Company, an evaluation was carried out under the supervision of and with the participation of the Company’s
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures.
Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the design and operation of our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2012, the end of the period covered by management’s discussion and analysis, to ensure that
material information relating to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries would be made known to them by officers within those entities.
The Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and its Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer are responsible for establishing
and maintaining the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. The Disclosure Committee, composed of senior managers of the Company,
assists the CEO and CFO in evaluating the information and appropriateness of material subject to public disclosure.
INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management has designed internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the
Company’s financial reporting and its compliance with IFRS in its consolidated financial statements. The President and   CEO and   the VicePresident and CFO have supervised management in the evaluation of the design and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial
reporting as at December 31, 2012 and believe the design and effectiveness of the internal controls to be sufficient to provide such reasonable
assurance.
CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
During the most recent period, there have been no changes in the Company’s policies and procedures and other processes that comprise its internal
control over financial reporting, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.
OUTLOOK
Volumes for the major tire tolling sector are expected to remain steady in the first two quarters at the levels experienced in the fourth quarter of 2012,
before rising again significantly in August or September. This planned increase was a key factor in the refurbishment of our North Carolina facility.
Volumes related to heavy belting for the coal sector are expected to remain weak for the foreseeable future. This weakness was first experienced in
the second quarter of 2012. New export business for new mining products is expected to gradually increase throughout the year. New markets where
we have experienced recent success, such as oil and gas, will be further penetrated. All other sectors are expected to improve slightly over 2012.
Our forecasts for defense product sales show a small increase in 2013 and are largely supported by existing contracts. There remains the opportunity
to outperform these estimates if a US CBRN glove order is received or a significant gas mask contract is signed in new territories currently being
explored. While new products are on the horizon for which we have large expectations, none are likely to have completed customer evaluation in
time to impact sales in 2013.
While raw material markets are subject to rapid change, there are no areas of immediate concern and the first six months of 2013 should enjoy
relatively stable pricing. This being the case, working capital requirements should be similar to 2012 and maintenance capital expenditure will be less.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of AirBoss of America Corp. and all the information in the annual report are the responsibility
of management and have been approved by the Board of Directors. The financial statements have been prepared by management, in accordance
with IFRS. When alternate accounting methods exist, management has chosen those it deems most appropriate in the circumstances. Financial
statements are not precise since they include certain amounts based on estimates and judgements. Management has determined such amounts on a
reasonable basis in order to ensure that the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects. Management has prepared the financial
information presented in this annual report and has ensured that it is consistent with that presented in the financial statements.
AirBoss of America Corp. maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls consistent with reasonable cost. Such systems are
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and the Company’s assets are appropriately
accounted for and adequately safeguarded.
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for reviewing and approving the financial statements.
The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board and all members are outside directors. The Committee meets periodically with management, as well
as the external auditors, to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting process, auditing matters and financial reporting issues, to satisfy
itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities and to review the annual report, the financial statements and the external auditors’
report.  The Committee reports its findings to the Board for consideration when approving the financial statements for issuance to the shareholders.
The Committee also considers the engagement or re-appointment of the external auditors for review by the Board and approval by the shareholders.
KPMG LLP, the Company’s external auditors, who are appointed by the shareholders, audited the consolidated financial statements as of and for
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards to enable them to express to the
shareholders their opinion on the consolidated financial statements. KPMG LLP has full and free access to the Audit Committee.
March 20, 2013
R.L. Hagerman
President and Chief Executive Officer

S.W. Richards
Vice-President Finance and CFO

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of AirBoss of America Corp.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of AirBoss of America Corp., which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position as at December 31, 2012 and  2011, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for
the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management  is  responsible  for  the  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  these consolidated  financial  statements in  accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our  responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the  purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the  entity’s internal  control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of AirBoss of America
Corp. as at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with  International  Financial Reporting Standards.

KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada,
March 20, 2013
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
In thousands of US dollars

Note

December 31, 2012

December 31, 2011

Cash and cash equivalents		
Trade and other receivables
4
Prepaid expenses		
Inventories
5
Current income taxes receivable		

1,247
29,604
826
33,386
1,461

6,418
28,384
965
39,759
240

Total current assets		

66,524

75,766

6
7
8

44,023
8,158
116

42,831
7,841
136

Total non-current assets		

52,297

50,808

Total assets		

118,821

126,574

9
Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables, including derivatives		

772
22,066

755
28,944

Total current liabilities		

22,838

29,699

9
16
10
13

8,564
3,108
100
5,224

9,019
3,573
98
5,006

Total non-current liabilities		

16,996

17,696

Total liabilities		

39,834

47,396

11
Share capital
Contributed surplus
11
Retained earnings		

37,090
1,925
39,972

38,542
1,581
39,056

Total equity		

78,987

79,179

Total liabilities and equity		

118,821

126,574

ASSETS
Current assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other investments, including derivatives

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Employee benefits
Provisions
Deferred income tax liabilities

EQUITY

The notes on pages 21 to 41 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
On behalf of the Board

Robert L. Hagerman
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Income
For the year ended December 31
In thousands of US dollars

Note

2012

2011

Revenue		
248,698
282,520
Cost of sales
5
(222,637)
(247,667)
Gross profit		

26,061

34,853

General and administrative expenses		
Selling and marketing expenses		
Research and development expenses
14
Other income (expense)		

(9,776)
(4,013)
(1,389)
(364)

(10,154)
(3,805)
(454)
376

(15,542)
Operating Expenses		
10,519
Results from operating activities		
Finance costs

9, 16

(1,019)

Profit before income tax		
9,500
Income tax expense

13

(2,330)

Profit for the year		
7,170
Earnings per share 		
Basic
12
Diluted
12

(14,037)
20,816
(1,452)
19,364
(6,360)
13,004

0.31
0.31

0.55
0.54

2012

2011

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended December 31
In thousands of US dollars

Note

Profit for the year		
7,170
Other comprehensive income
Defined benefit plan actuarial gains/(losses)

13,004

485

(158)

Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of income tax of $174 (2011: $59)		485

(158)

Total comprehensive income for the year		7,655

12,846

The notes on pages 21 to 41 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
In thousands of US dollars

Share
Capital

Contributed
Surplus

Retained
Earnings

Total

Balance at January 1, 2011

38,573

1,679

31,024

71,276

Total comprehensive income for the year				
13,004
Profit for the year
–
–

13,004

Other comprehensive income
Defined benefit plan actuarial gains/(losses) net of tax of $59

–

–

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

(158)
12,846

(158)
12,846

Contributions by and distributions to owners				
Stock options expensed
Stock options exercised
Shares repurchased to settle loan to officer (note 11, 18)
Normal Course Issuer Bid
Dividends to equity holders
Total contributions by and distributions to owners
Balance at December 31, 2011

–
690
(50)
(671)
–

592
(690)
–
–
–

–
–
(97)
(1,321)
(3,396)

592
–
(147)
(1,992)
(3,396)

(31)

(98)

(4,814)

(4,943)

39,056

79,179

38,542

1,581

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
In thousands of US dollars

Share
Capital

Contributed
Surplus

Retained
Earnings

Total

Balance at January 1, 2012

38,542

1,581

39,056

79,179

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year

–

–

7,170

7,170

Other comprehensive income
Defined benefit plan actuarial gains/(losses) net of tax of $174

–

–

485

485

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

7,655

7,655

Contributions by and distributions to owners				
Stock options expensed
–
344
–
Normal Course Issuer Bid
(1,452)
–
(2,435)
Dividends to equity holders
–
–
(4,304)

344
(3,887)
(4,304)

Total contributions by and distributions to owners

(1,452)

(6,739)

(7,847)

Balance at December 31, 2012

37,090

39,972

78,987

344
1,925

The notes on pages 21 to 41 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

19

Annual Report

AirBoss of America Corp.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31
In thousands of US dollars

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year

2012

2011

7,170

13,004

Adjustments for:
Depreciation
6
5,284
4,331
Amortization of intangible assets
7
383
341
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
6
116
83
Change in fair value of other investments
8
23
–
Finance costs
9, 16
1,019
1,452
Unrealized foreign exchange (gains)/losses		
444
(1,272)
Equity-settled share-based payment expense
11
344
592
Shares repurchased to settle loan to officer
–
(147)
Current income tax expense
13
2,318
3,933
SRED tax credits
14
(669)
(1,212)
Deferred income tax expense
13
12
2,427
Post-retirement benefits expense
16
(45)
(41)
		
16,399
23,491
Change in inventories		
Change in trade and other receivables		
Change in prepayments		
Change in trade and other payables		
Change in provisions		

6,373
(1,203)
141
(7,139)
–

(5,533)
2,125
1,150
1,718
(216)

Net change in non-cash or working capital balances		

(1,828)

(756)

Interest paid		
Income tax paid		

(854)
(2,862)

(1,279)
(4,758)

Net cash provided by from operating activities		

10,855

16,698

6
7
6

(6,708)
(714)
130

(4,739)
(449)
–

Net cash used in investing activities		

(7,292)

(5,188)

(668)
(4,050)
(3,887)

(13,550)
(3,212)
(1,992)

(8,605)
Net cash used in financing activities		

(18,754)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings		
Dividends paid
11
Normal Course Issuer Bid
11

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		

(5,042)

(7,244)

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1		
Effect of exchange rate  fluctuations on cash held

6,418
(129)

13,300
362

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31		 1,247

6,418

The notes on pages 21 to 41 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(Amounts in thousands of US dollars, except per share amounts, unless otherwise specified)

NOTE 1 REPORTING ENTITY
AirBoss of America Corp. (“the Company”) is a public company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, incorporated and domiciled in Canada.
The address of the Company’s registered office is 16441 Yonge Street, Newmarket, Ontario, Canada. The consolidated financial statements of the
Company as at and for the year ended December 31, 2012 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and
individually as “Group entities”). The Group has operations in Canada and the US and primarily is involved in the manufacture of high quality
rubber-based products to resource, military and industrial markets (see Note 17).

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The Consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 20, 2013.
(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following material items in the statement of
financial position:
• certain property, plant and equipment was re-measured at fair value on the adoption of IFRS
• forward contracts are measured at fair value
• liabilities for cash settled share-based payment arrangements are initially and thereafter measured at fair value
• equity settled share based payment arrangements are measured at fair value at the grant date
• recognition of future income taxes on foreign exchange differences where the currency of the tax basis on non-monetary assets and liabilities
differ from the functional currency
• the employee benefit liability is recognized as the net total of the plan assets, at fair value, less the present value of the defined benefit
obligation
(c) Functional and presentation currency
These  consolidated  financial  statements are  presented  in  US  dollars,  which  is  the  Company’s  functional  currency. All financial information
presented in US dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousands, except when otherwise indicated.
(d) Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and  
assumptions that  affect the  application of accounting  policies  and  the  reported amounts of  assets, liabilities,  income  and  expenses. Significant
areas requiring the use of estimates include valuation of accounts receivable and inventory and accounting for income taxes. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which
the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes:
Note 4 - trade and other receivables
Note 5 - inventories
Note 13 – income taxes
Note 14 – government assistance
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial
year are included in the following notes:
Note 7 – key assumptions used in discounted cash flow projections for impairment of intangible assets;
Note 13 – utilization of tax losses;
Note 16 – measurement of post-retirement benefits;
Note 10 – provisions; and
Note 15 – commitments and contingencies

21

Annual Report

AirBoss of America Corp.
Notes to CFS (cont’d)
NOTE 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.
The accounting policies have been applied consistently by Group entities.
(a) Foreign currency
(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars (USD), which is the Group’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.
(ii) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. The foreign currency gain or loss on the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities are recognized in profit or loss on the income
statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date
of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement
within ‘finance cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented on a net basis in the income statement within ‘other income’.
(b) Financial instruments
(i) Non-derivative financial assets
The Group initially recognizes loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets (including assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset, expire or are settled.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when and only when, the Group has a
legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The Group has the following non-derivative financial assets: trade and other receivables; cash and cash equivalents.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are
recognized initially at fair value, plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
Trade and other receivables comprise trade, other receivables and notes receivable.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the statement of cash flows.
(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities
All financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially on the trade date at which the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group has a
legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The Group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: loans and borrowings; bank overdrafts; trade and other payables.
Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these
financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
iii) Share capital
Common shares
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and share options are recognized as
a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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(iv) Derivative financial instruments
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to reduce its foreign currency risk exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated from the host
contract and accounted for separately. If the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely
related, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative and the combined instrument
is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial
recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value and changes therein are recognized immediately in profit or loss.
(c) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Land and buildings comprise mainly manufacturing facilities and offices. Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost
(net of government grants) less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials
and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located and borrowing costs. Cost also includes transfers from equity of any gain
or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the
functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of
property, plant and equipment.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognized net within other income in profit or loss.
(ii) Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item or recognized as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
(iii) Depreciation
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, revalued amount or other amount
substituted for cost, less its residual value.
Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of property, plant and  
equipment, with certain manufacturing equipment being depreciated on a units of production basis since this most closely reflects the expected
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
• buildings
15-40 years
5-15 years
• plant and manufacturing equipment
• vehicles
3-5 years
3-5 years
• furniture, office, lab and computer equipment
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if appropriate.
(d) Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of a business is included in intangible assets. At initial recognition, goodwill is measured as the excess of
purchase price over identifiable net assets.
In respect of acquisitions prior to January 1, 2010, goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents the amount recorded under
previous Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.
Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. Impairment losses on goodwill are
not reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or Groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose, identified according
to operating segment.
(ii) Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is recognized
in profit or loss as incurred.
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Investment tax credits are recorded as a reduction of R&D department costs. Investment tax credits related to capital assets reduce property, plant
and equipment accordingly.
Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes. Development
expenditure is capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible,
future economic benefits are probable and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset.
The expenditure capitalized includes the cost of materials, direct labour, overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset
for its intended use and borrowing costs on qualifying assets. Other development expenditure is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
Capitalized development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
(iii) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets, such as software, that are acquired or developed by the Group and have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Costs associated with annual licenses and maintaining computer software programs
are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique
software products controlled by the Group are recognized as intangible assets when there is an ability to use the software product and it can be
demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits.
Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the software product include the incremental software development or contracted employee
costs. Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as an expense as incurred.
(iv) Subsequent expenditures
Subsequent expenditures are capitalized only when they increase the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All
other expenditures, including expenditures on internally generated goodwill and intellectual property, are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
(v) Amortization
Amortization is calculated over the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.
Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other than goodwill, from the
date that they are available for use, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied
in the asset. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
• software
5 years
3 - 5 years
• capitalized development costs
(e) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average cost principle
and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their
existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production
overheads based on normal operating capacity.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling
expenses. Impairment charges are recorded against cost of sales.
(f) Employee benefits
(i) Defined benefit plans
The Group provides designated employees with defined post-employment benefits based upon their years of service. A defined benefit plan is a
post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. These benefits are accrued by the Company and remain unfunded unless
certain events occur. The Group’s net obligation, in respect of defined benefit pension plans, is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Any
unrecognized past service costs and the fair value of any plan assets (if any) are deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on
high-quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating  the  terms of  the  Group’s obligations and that are denominated in the same
currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid.
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The Group recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans immediately in other comprehensive income and reports them
in retained earnings.
(ii) Other long-term employee benefits
The Group provides certain employees with post retirement life insurance benefits that are unfunded. The expected costs of these benefits are
accrued over the period of employment using the same accounting methodology as used for defined benefit pension plans. These obligations
are valued annually by independent qualified actuaries. The  Group’s  net  obligation  in  respect  of  long-term  employee  benefits,  other  than
pension plans, is the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and  prior periods; that benefit is  
discounted to determine its present value. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity
dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations. Any actuarial gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income and retained
earnings in the period in which they arise.
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(iii) Bonus Plan
The Group recognizes a liability for unpaid bonuses and an expense for all bonuses, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders, after certain adjustments. The Group recognizes a provision where contractually obliged or where there
is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
(g) Provisions
Provisions for environmental restoration and legal claims are recognized when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost.
(h) Revenue
(i) Goods Sold
Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of
returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognized when: persuasive evidence that the significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred to the buyer; recovery of the consideration is probable; the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated
reliably; there is no continuing management involvement with the goods; and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Revenues are
recorded based on the price specified in the price quotes or contracts. If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured
reliably, then the discount is recognized as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognized.
The timing of the transfers of risks and rewards may be upon shipment to, or receipt by, customers depending on the individual terms of the contract
of sale. Generally, the buyer has no right of return except if the product did not comply with the agreed upon specifications.
(ii) Services
Revenue from services rendered is recognized in profit or loss on provision of the services.
(iii) Presentation
Revenue and cost of sales are presented on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of income when the Group is acting as principal and is
subject to the significant risks and rewards of the transaction. Where the Group receives consignment inventory for processing, the tolling charges
are recorded as revenue.
(i) Government grants
An unconditional government grant is recognized as a reduction of the cost of the asset acquired or expenses incurred when the grant becomes
receivable.
(j) Lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss, on a straight-line basis, over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received
are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense over the term of the lease.
(k) Finance income and finance costs
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Interest income is recognized, as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair value of financial assets at
fair value  through profit or loss, impairment  losses recognized on financial assets and the financing component of employee benefits. Borrowing
costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in profit or loss using the
effective interest method.
(l) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it
relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of  assets  and  liabilities  for  financial  reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable  profits  will  be  available  against  which  they  can  be  utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
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In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional
taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events.
New information may become available that causes the Company to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such
changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.
(m) Segment reporting
Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEO (the chief operating decision maker) include items directly attributable to a segment as well
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company’s headquarters),
head office expenses, and tax assets and liabilities.
(n) Share-based payments
The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, under which the entity receives services from directors, employees and
certain advisors as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant of
the options is recognized as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted.
Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each
reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions.
It recognizes the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. When
the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received, together with the amount recorded in contributed surplus, are
credited to share capital when the options are exercised. The beneficiary can elect to convert the fair value of the vested options to the market value
of shares on a cash-less basis on the exercise date.
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share.
The Group also has a cash-settled stock appreciation rights plan (“SARS”), a form of stock-based compensation. The compensation expense is
accrued over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in liabilities in the amount which represents the fair value of the amount payable to
the employee in respect of SARS. The liability is re-measured at each reporting date and at the settlement date. Any changes in the fair value of the
liability are recognized as a compensation expense in the statement of income.
(o) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2013 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. Those which may be relevant to the Group are set
out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early.
(i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2010), IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2009)
IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. Under IFRS 9 (2009), financial assets are
classified and measured based on the business model in which they are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. IFRS 9 (2010)
introduces additions relating to financial liabilities. The IASB currently has an active project to make limited amendments to the classification and
measurement requirements of IFRS 9 and add new requirements to address the impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.
IFRS 9 (2010 and 2009) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 with early adoption permitted. At this time,
management cannot provide a reasonable estimate of the effect on the Company’s financial position until a detailed review has been completed.
(ii) IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements,
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (2011)
IFRS 10 introduces a single control model to determine whether an investee should be consolidated. Based on the IFRS 10 model, there are no
changes to the entities being consolidated.
Under IFRS 11, the structure of the joint arrangement, although still an important consideration, is no longer the main factor in determining the type
of joint arrangement and therefore the subsequent accounting.
• An interest in a joint operation, which is an arrangement in which the parties have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities, will
be accounted for on the basis of the Group’s interest in those assets and liabilities.
• An interest in a joint venture, which is an arrangement in which the parties have rights to the net assets, will be equity-accounted.
There is no impact of the new standard.
IFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all the disclosure requirements about an entity’s interest in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates
and unconsolidated structure entities. The Group is currently assessing the disclosure requirements for interests in subsidiaries, interests in joint
arrangements and associates and unconsolidated structured entities in comparison with the existing disclosures. IFRS 12 requires the disclosure of
information about the nature, risks and financial effects of these interests.
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These standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The Company does not expect the adoption of these
amendments to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. The Company intends to adopt these standards in its financial
statements for the annual and interim periods beginning on January 1, 2013.
(iii) IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (2011)
IFRS 13 provides a single source of guidance on how fair value is measured and replaces the fair value measurement guidance that is currently
dispersed throughout IFRS. Subject to limited exceptions, IFRS 13 is applied when fair value measurements or disclosures are required or permitted
by other IFRSs. The Group is currently reviewing its methodologies in determining fair values. IFRS13 is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2013. The Company intends to adopt these standards in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013.
(iv) IAS 19 Employee Benefits (2011)
IAS 19 (2011) changes the definition of short-term and other long-term employee benefits to clarify the distinction between the two.
The Company anticipated some of these changes and as a result, upon transition to IFRS where the Company had choices among accounting
methods, it opted to immediately recognize the defined benefit plan re-measurement component in Other Comprehensive Income. This aspect of the
amendments will therefore have no impact on the Company’s financial results. The net interest approach in IAS 19 will change how the Company
measures interest and the expected return on its plan assets; however, the change is not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s
financial results. The Company intends to adopt these standards in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013.
NOTE 4 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Trade receivables
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts

Other receivables

2012

2011

28,315
(99)

26,767
(96)

28,216

26,671

1,388

1,713

29,604

28,384

Impairment losses
The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars

Gross

2012

Within terms
Past due 0-30 days
Past due 31-120 days

18,204
8,052
2,059

–
–
(99)

20,187
5,756
824

–
–
(96)

28,315

(99)

26,767

(96)

2011
Impairment

Gross

Impairment

The continuity of the allowance for doubtful accounts was:
In thousands of US dollars

2012

2011

Balance at January 1
Impairment loss recognized
Revise estimate/write-off
Effect of movements in exchange rates

(96)
(126)
123
–

(50)
(104)
57
1

(99)

(96)

Balance at December 31
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NOTE 5 INVENTORIES
December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Raw materials and consumables
Work in progress
Finished goods
Inventory in transit
Other inventory

2012

2011

22,859
3,136
5,030
2,876
865

27,868
4,024
6,271
1,504
988

34,766

40,655

(1,380)

Provisions

(896)

33,386

39,759

Under
construction

Total

An inventory impairment charge of $511 was included (2011: $198) in costs of sales.
NOTE 6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
In thousands of US dollars

Land and
buildings

Cost or deemed cost
Balance at January 1, 2011
Additions
Disposals
Transfers

11,492
889
–
115

33,722
2,027
(238)
1,630

637
247
–
99

Balance at December 31, 2011

12,496

37,141

983

Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Balance at December 31, 2012

1,711
–
341
14,548

Plant and
equipment

731
(741)
3,216
40,347

Furniture
and equipment

52
(1)
–

994
1,522
–
(1,844)
672
4,214
–
(3,557)

46,845
4,685
(238)
–
51,292
6,708
(742)
–

1,034

1,329

57,258

3,437
3,471
(155)
(55)

187
157
–
–

–
–
–
55

4,285
4,331
(155)
–

6,698

344

55

8,461

4,359
(509)
55

176
(1)
–

–
–
(55)

5,284
(510)
–

519

–

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2011
Depreciation for the period
Disposals
Transfers
Balance at December 31, 2011
Depreciation for the period
Disposals
Transfers
Balance at December 31, 2012

661
703
–
–
1,364
749
–
–
2,113

10,603

13,235

Included in plant and equipment is spare parts inventory of $99 (2011: $115).
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Carrying amounts
Land and
buildings

Plant and
equipment

Furniture
and equipment

Under
construction

Total

At December 31, 2011

11,132

30,443

639

617

42,831

At December 31, 2012

12,435

29,744

515

1,329

44,023

In thousands of US dollars

Depreciation expense of $5,062 (2011: $4,158) was charged to costs of sales, $269 (2011: $202) was charged to general and administrative expense
and $69 (2011: $54) was charged to research and development expenses. Rental expense for equipment under operating lease of $394 (2011: $374)
was included in the income statement.
Government assistance grants relating to capital assets were $234 in 2012 (2011: $280); property, plant and equipment were adjusted accordingly.
Proceeds on disposal of certain injection presses as part of the reorganization were $130; a loss of $116 was recognized relating to this disposal and
included in depreciation expense charged to costs of sales. A loss of $83 was recognized relating to disposals in 2011 and included in depreciation
expense charged to costs of sales. No proceeds were received in 2011 related to these disposals.
NOTE 7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
		Product
In thousands of US dollars
Goodwill
development
Cost
Balance at January 1, 2011
Purchases

6,833
–

Balance at December 31, 2011

6,833

Purchases
Disposals
Balance at December 31, 2012

–
–

Software

Total

91
–

1,181
449

8,105
449

91

1,630

8,554

–
(91)

714
(21)

714
(112)

6,833

–

2,323

9,156

Amortization and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2011
Amortization for the period

–
–

–
91

280
342

280
433

Balance at December 31, 2011

–

91

622

713

Amortization for the period
Disposals

–
–

–
(91)

383
(7)

383
(98)

Balance at December 31, 2012

–

–

998

998

Carrying amounts				
At December 31, 2011

6,833

–

1,008

7,841

At December 31, 2012

6,833

–

1,325

8,158

Amortization expense of $383 (2011: $433) was charged to general and administrative expense.
Impairment
Goodwill is allocated  to those Cash Generating  Units  that  are  expected  to  benefit  from  synergies  of  the  related  business  combination  and  
represent  the  lowest  level  within  the  Company at  which  management monitors  goodwill. The Company’s goodwill is allocated to AirBoss
Engineered Products. As at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, there was no goodwill impairment.
Recoverable amount
Recoverable amount was based on value in use. Value in use was determined by discounting the future cash flows generated from the continuing
use of the unit.
Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations
The calculations of value in use for the Cash Generating Units are most sensitive to the following assumptions:
• Discount rates
• Growth rates used in the budget
• Growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget date
Cash flows were projected based on past experience, actual operating results and the business plan for a 1 year period. Cash flows for a further
4-year period were extrapolated using a constant growth rate of 2% (2011: 2%), which does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the
industry.
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Revenue and margins in the business plan were budgeted based on discussions with customers, contracts on-hand and industry information, past
experience and trends, as well as initiatives. The anticipated annual revenue has been based on conservative growth levels, (net of the inflationary
effect of rising raw material prices).
The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends in the rubber and AEP industries and are based on
both external sources and internal sources (historical data).
NOTE 8 OTHER INVESTMENTS
December 31
In thousands of US dollars

2012

2011

Non-current investments
Other investments

116

136

An impairment charge of $23 was included (2011: nil) in other income.
Derivatives not meeting hedge accounting criteria:
There are no forward contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2012 or 2011.
NOTE 9 LOANS AND BORROWINGS
December 31
In thousands of US dollars

2012

2011

Non-current
Term debt
Less: deferred financing

8,599
(35)

9,068
(49)

8,564

9,019

670
102

656
99

772

755

In thousands of US dollars

2012

2011

CAD $9.2 million (2011: CAD $9.9 million) term debt, bearing interest at 6.39%,
seven year term, amortized over 15 years, with interest payable monthly and no principal
payments were required until November 15, 2011, balance repayable July 15, 2015

9,269

9,724

Subtotal
Less principal due within one year

9,269
(670)

9,724
(656)

8,599

9,068

Current
Term debt
Other debt

December 31

Deferred financing fees, less accumulated amortization have been deducted against the term loan for presentation purposes.
Term debt is secured by a first charge against property, plant and equipment and an inter-creditor arrangement with the demand loan entered into
by the Company and by its subsidiaries supported by collateral mortgages. Interest expense in 2012 on the term loans was $613 (2011: $1,099).
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Other Debt:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Other debt

2012

2011

102

99

Other debt reflects the remaining principal and accrued interest relating to one promissory note taken back by the vendors of AirBoss Engineered
Products Inc. (formerly Acton International Inc.) The note bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum, is secured by a collateral mortgage of $1.8
million (2008 - $1.8 million) on the assets of AirBoss Engineered Products Inc., ranks second to the bank and term lender and was repayable
on April 20, 2004. The terms of the purchase agreement provided for a recovery of purchase price under certain conditions. During 2002, AEP
exercised its right of offset against the vendors’ note for the recovery of purchase price and environmental costs and suspended payments of
principal and interest pending resolution of its claims. During 2006, AEP had settled $1.5 million of the purchase price (plus accrued interest)
under the terms of the agreement. During 2007, AEP settled one of the promissory notes, which reduced the obligation a further $0.25 million. AEP
has recorded the net obligation of $0.1 million after offsetting the recovery of purchase price and environmental costs pursuant to the agreement.
During 2011, AEP was notified that the superior court rendered a judgement in its favour allowing the parties to offset their respective claims. AEP
has been informed that an appeal was filed relating to the judge’s decision to award AEP 100% of its claim for environmental cost reimbursement.
Principal repayments on the term loan and other debt are as follows:
In thousands of US dollars

Total

2013

2014

2015

Term loan and other debt

9,371

772

670

7,929

The operating facility which provides financing up to CAD $35 million is $35.2 million at December 31, 2012, (2011: $34.4 million); no amounts
are drawn against this facility at the respective year ends.
The demand loan bears interest at a range from the bank’s prime rate plus 0.35% to prime plus 0.50% per annum, with respect to loans denominated
in Canadian currency and from the U.S prime rate plus 0.10% to the U.S. prime rate plus 0.25% with respect to loans denominated in U.S. currency.
The credit/security/letter agreement provides the lenders with a perfected first security interest on all accounts receivable and inventories of the
Company and its subsidiaries, secured guarantees and an inter-creditor arrangement with the term loan syndicate. Interest expense in 2012 on the
demand loan was $226 (2011: $169).
The contractual re-pricing dates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars

2012

2011

Less than 1 year
1 to 5 years

772
8,564

755
9,019

9,336

9,774

The carrying amount and fair value of the borrowings are as follows:
Carrying amount

Fair value

In thousands of US dollars

2012

2011

2012

2011

Term debt

9,336

9,774

9,648

10,256

The fair value of current borrowings approximates the carrying amount, as the impact of discounting will not have a material impact. The fair values
are based on cash-flows discounted using a rate based on the borrowing rate of 4.55% (2011: 4.52%).
The group has the following undrawn borrowing facility:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Floating rate:
Expiring within 1 year

2012

2011

35,200

34,400

The Company is not in default, nor has it breached any terms of its loan agreement.
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NOTE 10 PROVISIONS
In thousands of US dollars
Balance at January 1, 2011
Provisions used during the year
Provisions reversed during the year
Foreign exchange
Balance at December 31, 2011
Provisions used during the year
Provisions reversed during the year
Foreign exchange
Balance at December 31, 2012

Site restoration
102
–
–
(4)

Legal
212
(104)
(115)
7

Total
314
(104)
(115)
3

98

–

98

–
–
2

–
–
–

–
–
2

100

–

100

NOTE 11 CAPITAL AND OTHER COMPONENTS OF EQUITY
Share Capital and Contributed Surplus
Share Capital: Authorized - Unlimited number of common shares.
Unlimited  number of  Class  B preference  shares  without  par  value  and  issuable  in  series  subject  to the  filing  or articles  of  amendment. The
directors  may  fix, from  time  to  time  before  such issue,  the  number  of  shares  that  is  to  comprise  each series  and  the  designations,  rights,
privileges, restrictions and conditions attaching to each series.
Issued share capital is as follows:
2012

2011

January 1
Exercise of share options
Repurchase of common shares

23,330
–
(837)

23,613
136
(419)

December 31

22,493

23,330

In thousands of US dollars

Issuance of common shares
During 2012 no options were exercised. In 2011, 649,000 options were exercised on a cash-less basis for 136,267 shares.
Normal Course Issuer Bid
In 2012, the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) accepted a notice filed by the Company of its intention to extend the Normal Course Issuer Bid
(“NCIB”) for a one year period. The TSX notice provides that the Company may, during the twelve-month period commencing May 17, 2012 and
ending May 16, 2013, repurchase on the TSX up to 1,699,794 common shares representing 10% of the public float. The actual number of shares
purchased, if any and the timing is determined by the Company considering market conditions, share prices, cash position and other factors.
During 2012, the Company purchased for cancellation 836,865 (2011: 419,537) of its outstanding common shares pursuant to the NCIB for $3,887
(2011: $1,992) at an average price of $4.64 (2011:$5.13). As a result of this purchase, the Company recorded a reduction to share capital and
retained earnings of $1,452 (2011:$671) and $2,435 (2011: $1,321) respectively.
Capital and other components of equity
Contributed surplus
Contributed surplus is comprised of the difference between the book value per share and the purchase price paid for shares acquired for cancellation
by the Company and stock-based compensation of employees and non-employees.
The contributed surplus is as follows:
In thousands of US dollars

2012

2011

Balance at January 1
Stock option expense
Exercise of stock options

1,581
344
–

1,679
592
(690)

Balance at December 31

1,925

1,581
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Stock Options
The Company has reserved 2,249,289 (2011: 2,332,975) shares for its stock option plan. Options vest when granted, or over a period of up to five
years at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Options granted to directors and officers of the Company, which were outstanding at December 31,
2012, are as follows:
Options outstanding
Options exercisable
		 Weighted average
Weighted average		 Weighted average
Range of exercise price ($CAD)
Quantity
contract life
exercise price ($CAD)
Quantity
exercise ($CAD)
2.80-2.85
3.01
5.00
5.01
5.27
7.19

558,000
0.63
2.84
414,000
80,000
0.10
3.01
80,000
120,000
2.21
5.00
60,000
440,000
1.97
5.01
220,000
136,000
2.63
5.27
68,000
100,000
3.23
7.19
25,000
1,434,000			867,000

2.84
3.01
5.00
5.01
5.27
7.19

Options granted and outstanding:
A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plan as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 and changes during the years then ended, is
presented below:
2012
		
Weighted average
Quantity
exercise price ($CAD)
Quantity
Outstanding beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Outstanding end of year

1,434,000
–
–
1,434,000

$4.23
–
–
$4.23

1,983,000
100,000
(649,000)
1,434,000

2011
Weighted average
exercise price ($CAD)
$4.32
7.19
4.96
$4.23

Inputs for measurement of grant date fair values
The grant date fair value of all options were measured based on the Black-Scholes model. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic
average share price volatility. The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the share-based payment plans are the following:
Fair value of share options and assumptions
In Canadian dollars
Fair value at grant date
Share price at grant date
Exercise price
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility)
Option life (expected weighted average life)
Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds)

2011
$2.97
$7.19
$7.19
48.8%
5 years
1.11%
2.62%

No share-based payment awards were granted during 2012.
The stock options issued vest as follows:
Currently vested
2013
2014
2015
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Stock option expense
During the year, the Company recognized as employee costs $344 (2011: $592) relating to prior year option grants in general and administrative
expenses of the statement of income.
Dividends
Dividends on common shares were paid to shareholders of record quarterly in 2012 and in 2011 as follows:
Shareholder of record at:
March 31
June 30
September 30
December 31

2012
$ CAD
Date Paid
$ CAD
0.0375
April 19, 2012
0.03
0.05
July 19, 2012
0.0375
0.05
October 18, 2012
0.0375
0.05
January 17, 2013
0.0375
0.1875		0.1425

2011

Date Paid
April 20, 2011
July 20, 2011
October 19, 2011
January 19, 2012

The dividend payable at December 31, 2012 was $1,130 (2011: $860).
NOTE 12 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars except per share amounts
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Net income
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding
Dilution effect of stock options
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding
Net income per share:
Basic
Diluted

2012

2011

7,170

13,004

22,954
213
23,167

23,605
448
24,053

0.31
0.31

0.55
0.54

At December 31, 2012, 796,000 options (2011: 796,000) were excluded from the diluted weighted average number of common shares calculation
as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.
The average market value of the Company’s shares for the purpose of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was based on quoted market
prices for the period during which the options were outstanding.
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NOTE 13 INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes differs from the amount computed by applying the Canadian statutory income tax rate to income before income
taxes for the following reasons:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars

2012

2011

Combined federal and provincial statutory income tax
Foreign tax differential
Income tax related to non-deductible expenses
Differences arising on filing and assessments
Other
Total expense

2,375
90
88
(5)
(218)
2,330

5,136
968
200
(206)
262
6,360

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:
Current
Deferred
Total

2,318
12
2,330

3,933
2,427
6,360

The income tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Deferred income tax assets:
Non-capital income tax loss carry-forwards
Deferred income tax deductions relating to long-term liabilities
Research and development expenses deducted for
accounting less than amount deducted for tax purposes
Capital assets
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Research and development expenses deducted for accounting
in excess of tax purposes
Deferred income tax deductions relating to long-term liabilities
Capital assets
Net deferred income tax liabilities

2012

2011

1,118
826

138
959

93
25
2,062

60
23
1,180

(89)
(10)
(7,187)
(7,286)
(5,224)

(15)
(8)
(6,163)
(6,186)
(5,006)

In assessing the valuation of deferred income tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred income tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of deferred
taxable income during the period in which the temporary differences are deductible.
Management considers the scheduled reversals of deferred income tax liabilities, the character of the income tax asset and the tax planning strategies
in making this assessment. Management would not recognize deferred income tax assets if the more likely than not realization criterion is not met.
The Company has losses of $3.4 million (2011: $2.6 million) available to offset deferred income taxes in the US and has recognized a related
deferred income tax asset of $1.0 million (2011: $0.1 million). These net operating losses have a 15 to 20 year carry forward.
The aggregate amount of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches and  associated and interests in joint
ventures, for which no deferred tax liabilities have been recognized, is $24,021 (2011: $23,199).
NOTE 14 GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE
During the year 2012, AEP recognized grants of $814 to support certain initiatives (2011: $280) which were offset against expenses. In addition,
$157 (2011: nil) was recognized from the province of Quebec and Town of Acton-Vale, in respect of the new R&D facility in Bromont, Quebec.
Capital assets were adjusted accordingly.
During the year 2012, the Rubber Compounding division recognized $36 to support certain green initiatives (2011: nil) from a provincial program
which was offset against expenses.
Scientific research and investment tax credit of $369 were recognized in 2012 (2011: $1,212); R&D costs were adjusted accordingly. In addition,
$233 (2011: nil) was recognized as a reduction to capital assets in respect of provincial tax credits.
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NOTE 15 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments
The Company is committed, under non-cancellable operating lease agreements, to minimum rentals for equipment and premises as follows:
Equipment
Premises
Total
In thousands of US dollars
248
222
470
2013
122
212
334
2014
2015
42
30
72
2016
10
–
10
2017
–
–
–
422
464
886
Total
At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company had exercised all forward contracts and there were none outstanding.
Litigation
In 2004, the Company commenced an Action in the Superior Court of Quebec claiming funds due pursuant to the 1999 Agreement of Purchase
and Sale, whereby AirBoss acquired the assets of Acton International Inc. Part of the claim was settled pursuant to the filing in May 2007, of a
Declaration of Settlement with one of the defendants, for substantially the full amount of their 32% share of the Company’s claims. The remaining
claims amount to $2.4 million, plus accrued interest of which $1.2 million relates to an environmental claim for clean-up work completed by the
Company and $1.2 million relates to a reduction in purchase price due to the sales of military footwear not reaching specified targets by 2001.
The remaining defendants have filed a counterclaim against the Company in the amount of $4.8 million plus interest. The trial in this matter  
took place before the Superior Court of Montreal in May and June 2010. The Company has recorded their claims as recoverable from the
Defendants, in the case of the environmental claim, when the clean-up costs were incurred and in the case of the purchase price reduction when the
conditions were met giving rise to the claim in 2001.
In March of 2011, the Company was informed that the Superior Court rendered a judgement in its favour, allowing the parties to offset their
respective claims. The Company has been informed that an appeal was filed relating to the judge’s decision to award the Company 100% of its
claim for environmental cost reimbursement.
NOTE 16 POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Company maintains an unfunded supplementary employment retirement plan for certain executives “executive supplemental plan” and
provides post retirement life insurance benefits to eligible retirees “other benefit plan”.
Funding  for  the  executive  supplemental  plan  is  triggered  on  a  change of  control. The Company maintains an insurance policy to cover the
obligation, in event of the executive’s death. When the executive retires, the annual entitlement is funded from operations.
The methods of accounting, assumptions and frequency of valuations for the other benefit plan are similar to those used for defined benefit pension
schemes. This plan is funded through proceeds from an insurance policy.
December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Statement of Financial Position obligations for:
Executive Supplemental Plan
Other benefit plan
Income statement charge for:
Executive Supplemental Plan
Other benefit plan
Actuarial loss (gain) recognized in the statement of other comprehensive
income in the period (before tax):
Executive Supplemental Plan
Other benefit plan
Cumulative actuarial loss (gain) recognized in the statement of other
comprehensive income (before tax):
Executive Supplemental Plan
Other benefit plan
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2012

2011

2,525
583
3,108

2,992
581
3,573

129
32
161

142
34
176

(664)
5
(659)

219
(2)
217

(82)
315
233

582
310
892
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December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Present value of unfunded obligation and Liability in the
Statement of Financial Position
Movement in the defined benefit obligation
is as follows:
At January 1
Current service cost
Interest cost
Employer contribution
Actuarial (gain)/loss
Exchange differences
At December 31
The amounts recognized in the income
statement are as follows:
Post-retirement benefits expense
Interest cost
Exchanges differences

Executive
Supplemental plan
2012

2011

Other
benefit plan
2012

2011

2,525

2,992

583

581

2,992
–
129
–
(664)
68
2,525

2,694
–
142
–
219
(63)
2,992

581
3
29
(48)
5
13
583

616
3
31
(44)
(2)
(23)
581

–
142
(63)
79

(45)
29
13
(3)

(41)
31
(23)
(33)

–
129
68
197

The executive supplemental plan defined benefit obligation at December 31, 2009 and 2010 was $2,087 and $2,694 respectively. The other benefit
plan defined benefit obligation at December 31, 2009 and 2010 was $420 and $616 respectively.
The current service charge was included in “general and administrative expense” and the interest cost is included in “finance expense” in the income
statement.
December 31

Executive
Supplemental plan

Other
benefit plan

In thousands of US dollars

2012

2011

2012

2011

The amount recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income
Opening balance
Gain/(loss) for the year on accrued benefit obligation

(582)
664

(363)
(219)

(310)
(5)

(312)
2

82

(582)

(315)

(310)

Closing balance
December 31

Executive
Supplemental plan
In thousands of US dollars

Post retirement
benefit plan

2012

2011

2012

2011

3.75%
N/A
N/A
UP94
Generational,
Scale AA
Age 65 or age at
the valuation date,
if greater

4.25%
N/A
N/A
UP94
Generational,
Scale AA
Age 60 or age at
the valuation date,
if greater

4.25%
N/A
N/A
UP94
dynamically
projected,
Scale AA

5%
N/A
N/A
UP94
dynamically
projected,
Scale AA

50%
N/A
N/A
1

50%
N/A
N/A
1

N/A
N/A
N/A
12

N/A
N/A
N/A
12

The principal actuarial valuation assumptions
used were as follows:
Discount rate
Inflation rate
Expected return on plan assets
Mortality

Retirement age:
Percentage of members with spouses at retirement
Future salary increases
Future pension increases
EARSL

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are based on actuarial advice in accordance with published statistics and the mortality table used
is the 1994 uninsured pensioner mortality table, which projects mortality improvements to 2015 using scale AA.
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NOTE 17 SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Group has two reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business units. The strategic business units offer
different products and services and are managed separately because they require different technology and marketing strategies. For each of the
strategic business  units,  the  Group’s  CEO  reviews  internal  management reports on at least a quarterly basis. The following summary describes
the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:
• Rubber Compounding. Includes manufacturing and distributing rubber compounds and distributing rubber chemicals.
• AEP. Includes manufacturing and distributing protective wear and semi-finished rubber products.
• Corporate. Includes corporate activities and certain unallocated costs.
Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment profit before income
tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO. Segment profit is used to measure performance as
management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate
within these industries. Transfer pricing is based on third-party rates.
Inter-company amounts, which represent items purchased from different segments, have been presented within the segment disclosure and are
eliminated to arrive at the consolidated amounts.
The Company operates primarily within North America with respect to its rubber compound and globally with respect to its rubber protective
products and has production facilities in Canada and the United States.
For the year ended December 31
In thousands of US dollars

Rubber Compounding
2012

AEP

2011

Unallocated Corporate Costs

2012

2011

2012

2011

Total
2012

2011

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

199,578
(9,976)

217,379
(8,026)

62,529
(3,433)

79,230
(6,063)

–
–

–
–

262,107
(13,409)

296,609
(14,089)

External revenues

59,096

73,167

–

–

248,698

282,520

189,602

209,353

Reportable segment profit
before income tax

7,566

10,736

4,331

11,230

(2,397)

(2,602)

9,500

19,364

Reportable segment assets

72,027

85,939

41,504

37,770

5,290

2,866

118,821

126,575

Reportable segment liabilities

15,943

22,421

7,692

8,095

16,199

16,880

39,834

47,396

Depreciation and amortization

3,391

2,576

2,336

2,124

56

55

5,783

4,755

533

790

353

520

133

142

1,019

1,452

Income tax expense

1,868

3,081

1,614

4,111

(832)

2,330

6,360

Capital expenditure

4,180

2,343

3,237

2,781

64

7,422

5,188

Finance cost

(1,152)
5

Geographical segments
The Rubber Compounding, AEP segments operate manufacturing facilities and sales offices in the US and Canada, selling primarily in North
American markets.
In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of customers. Segment
assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.
Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment, software, goodwill, future income taxes and other assets.
In thousands of US dollars
Canada
United States
Other countries

Revenues

December 31, 2012
Non-current assets

79,871
161,763
7,064

43,265
9,032
–

84,226
188,515
9,779

42,845
7,963
–

248,698

52,297

282,520

50,808

December 31, 2011
Revenues
Non-current assets

Major customers

Revenues from one customer represent approximately 19% (2011: 24%) of the Group’s total revenues. Five customers represented
43% (2011: 52.7%) of the Company’s total revenues.
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Major products
Rubber Compounding
Tolling
Mixing

2012
3,907
185,695
189,602

2011
6,480
202,873
209,353

AEP		
Industrial
33,117
36,078
25,979
37,089
Defense
59,096
73,167
NOTE 18 RELATED PARTIES
Related Party Transactions
Included in the operating lease commitments was a rental agreement for corporate office space between the Company and a company controlled
by the Chairman of the Company. The lease provided for monthly payments equivalent to an annual rental of $90 and expired in August, 2012.
Effective October 1, 2012, the Company has agreed to lease the corporate office space on a month-to-month basis at a lease rate of $15 per month.
The monthly lease rate approximates fair market rental value. During the year, the Company paid rent for the corporate office of $113 (2011: $90).
During the year, the Company paid fees for the use of a facility in South Carolina of approximately $18 (2011: $20) to a company in which the
Chairman is an officer.
The Company provided a $0.1 million share purchase loan to an employee due December 2, 2011 bearing interest at 2.5% annually with full
recourse. 29,411 shares of the Company, having a fair value of $0.2 million, were pledged as collateral. During 2011, the loan was settled in full.
Transactions with key management personnel
Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive) CEO, CFO, and division heads. The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services is shown below:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Salaries and other short term benefits
Pension/Post-employment benefits
Stock option expense

2012
1,581
129
344
2,054

2011
1,806
141
592
2,539

The amounts disclosed in this table are the amounts recognized as operating expenses for accounting purposes during the period and do not
necessarily represent amounts receivable or received in cash.
Key management and directors own 26.9% of the outstanding common shares.
NOTE 19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial risk management
The Company’s activities result in exposure to a variety of financial risks, including risks related to commodity prices, currency fluctuation, interest
rates, credit and liquidity.
Market Risk
Commodity prices and supplies
The Company’s financial performance depends on certain outside sources for raw materials, including carbon black and synthetic and natural rubber
used in the production of its products, the price and availability of which are subject to fluctuations from such factors as weather, exchange rates
and the price of oil, changes in industry production capacity, changes in world inventory levels and other factors beyond the Company’s control.
The Company manages its commodity price and supply risk by matching purchase commitments to its customers’ requirements during term of the
price quote, ranging from 1 to 3 months and maintains supply sources in different areas of the world.
The Company does not enter into commodity contracts other than to meet the Company’s expected usage and sale requirements; such contracts are
not settled net.
The following table approximates the financial impact, (assuming changes are not passed along to its customers), on the Company of a 10% increase
in the cost of its most critical raw materials based upon purchases made in the respective years:
$ Millions US Dollars
Increase (decrease) 		
Natural & synthetic rubber
Carbon black
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Earnings before tax
2012
2011
(5.1)
(8.9)
(1.6)
(2.2)
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Currency Risk
Most of the Company’s products are sold at prices denominated in US dollars or based on prevailing US dollar prices; most of the raw material
purchases are denominated in US dollars and a significant portion of its operational costs and expenses are incurred in Canadian dollars. Therefore,
an increase in the value of the US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar, decreases the revenue in US dollar terms realized by the Company from
sales made in Canadian dollars, partially offset by lower Canadian dollar operational costs/expenses, which decreases operating margin and the
cash flow available to fund operations. The net Canadian monetary assets of its Canadian operations represent a currency risk as the balances are
re-measured at the month end spot rate creating an unrealized exchange gain or loss.
The Company manages its currency risk relating to monetary assets and liabilities denominated in Canadian dollars by increasing or decreasing the
proportion of operating or term loan denominated in Canadian funds or forward currency contracts. The Rubber Compounding segment’s profit and
loss is somewhat naturally hedged in that sales denominated in US dollars offset US dollar expenses and debt service costs. Engineered Product’s
business has relatively higher Canadian dollar expense content and is not naturally hedged.
The following table approximates the following impact on the Company of a $0.10 decrease in the value of one Canadian dollar in US currency:
$ Millions US Dollars
Increase (decrease)
Sales (1)
Purchases (2)
(1) Based upon Canadian dollar-denominated sales in 2012
(2) Based upon combined 2012 Canadian purchases and expenses

Earnings before tax
2012
2011
(4.0)
(3.5)
5.2
4.8

Interest Rate Risk
The Company’s interest rate risk mainly arises from the interest rate impact on cash, floating rate debt and pension obligation.
At the end of 2012, all borrowings are on a fixed rate basis (2011: fixed rate basis). The Company has no policy to manage the proportion of
borrowings on a fixed rate basis but is assessing its ability to increase its proportion of fixed rate revolving line of credit and term loan. The
Company has not entered into interest rate swap derivatives.
At the reporting date, the interest profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities

2012

2011

–
(9,371)

–
(9,823)

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets
Financial liabilities
Total

–
(105)
(9,476)

579
–
(9,244)

Fair value sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates for the year would have increased or decreased net income and equity by: December 31
December 31
In thousands of US dollars

Net income and equity
100bp increase
100bp decrease

2012
Variable rate instruments

(40)

40

2011
Variable rate instruments

(52)

49

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign exchange rates, remain constant.
Credit Risk
The Company held cash and cash equivalents of $1,247 at December 31, 2012 (2011: $6,418), which represents its maximum credit exposure on
these assets. The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank and financial institution counterparties, which are rated A- to AA-, based on Standard
and Poor’s ratings.
The Company sells its products to a variety of customers under various payment terms in the normal course of its operations and therefore is
exposed to credit risks. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by general economic conditions, the default risk of the industry and the
relative concentration of business. A majority of the Company’s trade receivables are derived from sales to distributors and manufacturers who have
been transacting with the Company for over five years.
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In monitoring credit risk, the Company considers industry, volume and aging trends, maturity and other relevant factors. The Company
performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and limits the amount of credit extended when deemed necessary. Purchase
limits established for certain accounts represent the maximum open balance permitted without approval from the CEO. The Company maintains
reserves for potential  credit  losses  relating  to  specific  exposures,  and  any  such losses to  date have  been within management’s expectations.
Revenues from one customer represent approximately 19% (2011: 24%) of the Group’s total revenues. Five customers represented 43%
(2011: 52.7%) of the Company’s total revenues in 2012 and 2011 respectively. The loss of any such customers or the delay or cancellation of any
orders under certain high-volume contracts could have a significant impact on the Company.
The Company believes that its five significant customers are credit worthy and has not recorded a provision for credit risk relating to these accounts.
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company’s approach to managing
liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and stressed
conditions.
The Company manages liquidity by maintaining adequate cash balances, having appropriate lines of credit available and monitoring cash
requirements to meet expected operational expenses, including debt service and capital requirements. In addition, the Company maintains a facility
permitting the Company to borrow up to $35 million. At year end, the Company had cash of $6.3 million and no net drawings against this facility
(2011: cash of $7.8 million and no net amount drawn against the facility).
Fair value of financial instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, demand loan, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, term loan and other debt. The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, demand loan, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, as recorded in the consolidated balance sheets approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
The fair value of the long term loan has been discounted using current market interest rates. The fair value of the other debt is not readily
determinable.
The carrying value and fair value are as follows:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Trade and other receivables
Long term loan (fair value of $9,648 (2011:$10,256)
Other liabilities

2012

2011

29,604
(8,599)
30,498

28,384
(9,068)
(37,621)

2012
(1,247)
9,336
8,089
78,987
87,076

2011
(6,418)
9,774
3,356
79,179
82,535

Capital Management
The Company has defined its capital as follows:
December 31
In thousands of US dollars
Cash and cash equivalents
Term loan and other debt
Net debt
Shareholders’ equity

The Company’s business is cyclical and it experiences significant changes in cash flow over the business cycle. In addition, the Company’s financial
performance can be materially influenced by changes in the relative value of the Canadian and US dollar.
The Company’s fundamental objective in managing capital is to ensure adequate liquidity and financial flexibility at all times, but particularly at the
bottom of the business cycle and in a strong Canadian dollar environment. The Company constantly monitors and assesses its financial performance
in order to ensure that its net debt levels are prudent, taking into account the anticipated direction of the business cycle. When reviewing financing
decisions, the Company considers the impact of debt and equity financing on its existing and future shareholders.
The Company has established a committed revolving line of credit that provides liquidity and flexibility when capital markets are restricted.
Directors and Officers currently own 26.9% or 6,041,402 shares of the Company. Each Director is required to hold shares for value equal to 3 years
retainer fees in order to align objectives with that of shareholders. There is no plan to extend availability of options beyond key management and
senior employees. The Company implemented a dividend policy to provide an additional return to shareholders; the decision to pay dividends is
reviewed quarterly.
The Board will review, from time-to-time, whether to implement or extend the Normal Course Issuer Bid or an offering if it will be accretive to
shareholders.
The Company’s approach to capital management is expected to remain unchanged in 2013.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
Subsequent Event
As of March 6, 2013, the Company contracted to sell US $21.7 million between March and December 2013 for CAD $22.1 million.
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